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ALAN E. NORRIS, Circuit Judge. Defendant Darrell Reynolds appeals his jury
conviction on two counts of shiributing pills containing hydracone in violation of 21 U.S.C.
§ 841(a)(1), and one count of possessing a fireara convicted felon iolation of 18 U.S.C.
8 922(g)(1). He argues that the district court erred by (1) admitting certain testimony in violation
of the evidentiary rules againkearsay and his Sixth Amendnherght of confrontation, and
(2) by refusing to provide the jury with certaimstructions. For the reasons that follow, we

affirm .

l.

A narcotics detective from the KnoxoGnty, Kentucky, Sheriff's Office engaged a
confidential informant (“CI”) torecord himself purchasing narcotics from Reynolds. The CI was
a paid informant, meaning he was working for law enforcement for cash.

On December 13, 2013, the detective searc¢hedCl and outfitted him with marked

money and a small video camera and then lsemtto buy narcotics from defendant. After the
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controlled buy, the CI gave the detective ten bgddone tablets that he had purchased and the
remaining buy money. On January 8, 2013, thectiete prepared the Cl the same way and
directed him to purchase ten more hydrocodpifie plus a handgun from Reynolds, which he
did.

The prosecution played the videscordings of the transactions for the jury and entered
the recordings into evahce. Although the combined audiodavideo recordings clearly capture
a drug transaction, with defendant present,mR&ls points out that the video never explicitly
showed him with possession dtifie narcotics or the gun. &haudio portion captured the
transactions involving the drugand firearm clearly, and the detwe testified that it was
defendant’s voice in the recand making the sale and one of the video recordings shows
Reynolds speaking.

The CI did not testify at trial; it wasuggested that he had died sometime during the
period between the purchases and trial. Thegoudsr asked the detective to explain why he
began investigating Reynolds, to which hesp@nded that he “had the information that
[Reynolds] was selling illegal narcotics.” f@éase counsel objectedn both Confrontation
Clause and hearsay grounds, but tiistrict court overruled & objection, stating that the
guestion was proper and sought &xplain why [law enforcementhade certain decisions as it
relates to an investigan, and so it is allowetb ask that question.”

The detective testified that lsent the Cl to Reynoldsisouse to make the controlled
purchases. When asked how he knew where defefidedt the detective said “other people in
the community [told] me what was going on there” and that the CI “knew Darrell Reynolds and
knew where he lived.” During cross-examinatia@efense counsel returned to the subject of

defendant’s residence and asked dtletective what he knew abautThe detective replied that
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“people told me who was seily narcotics out of there andhar | see—seen oun the yard
several times.” Defendant did nobject at trial tothe admission of the testimony about his
residence, but on appeal he asserts that thasamn of these statements also violated his
Confrontation Clause rights and teeidentiary rules against hearsay.

Turning to defendant’s clairdejury-instruction error, theecording of tle first drug
transaction captured the CI receiving a telegghagall during which he arranged to purchase
drugs from someone named Linda Poe. As it towrts this was part of the CI's work with law
enforcement. In a separate case, the same detective directed the CI to purchase narcotics from
Ms. Poe, eventually leading to her arrest. Thigelevant because defense counsel suggests that
Ms. Poe’s husband Robert Poe may have satdntircotics and the firearm to the CI, and
Reynolds was merely present during the traimsiag. To support this theory, defense counsel
repeatedly highlighted two portions of the rneting where the audio was garbled and suggested
that those portions included redaces to Mr. Poe, and requestegury instrution based on a
“mere presence” defense. The district court refusmlding that the standard jury instructions
adequately addressed defendant’s defense tla@oryhat the proposedsimnuction was confusing
because it was adapted from Sixth Circuitgratinstructions for a conspiracy charge.

After a two-day trialthe jury returned a gjty verdict on all ounts: two counts of drug

distribution and one count of being a cared felon in possession of a firearm.

.
Defendant appeals the districourt’'s admission of thehallenged testimony and its

denial of his requestgdry instructions.
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A. Admitted Testimony

“Generally, a district court'®videntiary rulings are reviewed for abuse of discretion.”
United States v. Chuyr800 F.3d 768, 774 (6th Cir. 2015) (quotidgited States v. Chalmers
554 F. App’x 440, 449 (6th Cir. 2014)). But whandefendant fails to preserve the issue by
objecting at trial, we review for plain errddnited States v. Kilpatrick798 F.3d 365, 378
(6th Cir. 2015).

Hearsay means a statement that “(1) the declarant does not make while testifying at the
current trial or hearing; and (2)party offers in evidence to protee truth of the matter asserted
in the statement.” Fed. R. Evid. 801(c). The hearake applies to mosiut-of-court statements,
but with several exceptionSeeFed. R. Evid. 803. Usually heaysavidence is not admissible.
Fed. R. Evid. 802.

The Confrontation Clause prohibits the agsmn of out-of-court statements that are
testimonial and offered for the truth of the ma#sserted, unless “the declarant is unavailable,
and . . . the defendant has had a prior opportunity to cross exa@nasvford v. Washingtgn
541 U.S. 36, 59 (2004%¥ee also United States v. GibB86 F.3d 479, 486 (6th Cir. 2007). The
Confrontation Clause is more rigthan the hearsay rule in tesraf exceptions, but it applies to
testimonial statements only:

It applies to witnesses against the accused—in other words, those who bear

testimony. Testimony, in turn, is typically solemn declaration or affirmation

made for the purpose of establishingpasving some fact. An accuser who makes

a formal statement to government officbesars testimony in a sense that a person
who makes a casual remark to an acquaintance does not.

Davis v. Washingtqrb47 U.S. 813, 823-24 (2006) (quoti@gawford, 541 U.S., at 51) (internal

quotations and citations omitted).
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On appeal, “[wlhen ‘the evidentiary issuesate to a claimed violation of the Sixth
Amendment,’ the de novo stamdaof review applies.'United States v. Cunningha®79 F.3d
355, 382 (6th Cir. 2012) (quotirignited States v. Davi®77 F.3d 660, 666 (6th Cir. 2009)). But
plain error review is also appragte for alleged Confrontation Clse violations not preserved at
trial. United States v. PowerS00 F.3d 500, 505 (6th Cir. 2007).

1. Background testimony about the investigation

The detective testifiethat he began invesagng Reynolds based anformation he had
received suggesting that defendant was involvetiensale of narcotickut he never described
the source of the information. Defgant relies heavily on two casessupport his claim that this
statement was admitted in errdsnited States v. CromeB89 F.3d 662 (6th Cir. 2004) and
United States v. PowerS00 F.3d 500 (6th Cir. 2007). Both cases are distinguishable.

In Powers an officer testified at trial that a confidential informant notified a narcotics
task force that the defendant “was traffickimgsignificant quantities of cocaine” and “was a
well-known cocaine dealer” whictriggered a sting operatioB00 F.3d at 503, 504. The court
considered whether this was permissible bamlgd information and stated that it presented a
close questionld. at 509. The court explained thaestimony ‘provided merely by way of
background,’ or to explain why the Governmeninoeenced an investigation, is not offered for
the truth of the matter assertedd’ at 508 (quotingCromer, 389 F.3d at 676). We ultimately
held that the district court erred by ating the testimony and that the defendant's
confrontation rights were violated because thmitbeabout the defendantmst activities “were
not necessary to set the contextta sting operation for the juryld. at 510. In the end, because
of overwhelming evidence of guilthe court ultimately deemed the error harmless and affirmed

the convictionld.
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In Cromer, an officer testified that she andrhgartner “had information about 3284
Buchanan. And we began an istigation about this residend®®ing associated with selling
drugs.” 389 F.3d at 675. As to this testimony, the defendant’s “confrontation right was not
implicated because the testimony was provided by way of backgrddndt’676 (citingUnited
States v. Martin 897 F.2d 1368, 1371-72 (6th Cirl990)). The *“out-of-court
statements . . . served the purpose of explaihiogy certain events came to pass or why the
officers took the actions they did. Because theestahts were not offeréd establish the truth
of the matter assertethe Confrontation Clause does not applg.”On the othehand, the court
held that other testimony about Cromer—inchgdhis nickname and phigal description—was
offered for the truth of the matter asserted and formed a key part of the governmentt ease.
677-78. As a result, the admissiontloé testimony constituted praerror and the defendant was
granted a new triald. at 679.

By contrast, in this case Reydslcannot point to any specific statement received by the
detective. The detective’s statement at triak wat used by the government for its truth but
rather as background information to explairwhand why law enforceent was investigating
defendant. The CI did not approach law enforeenwith a “tip” abouReynolds; instead he was
used for the sole purpose géthering evidence. At triathe government’'s case was almost
exclusively based on thegordings of Reynolds selling theraatics and firearm to the Cl and
the related testimony of the detective.

Because the challenged statement was neidgstimonial, nor offered for its truth, the
Confrontation Clause and the rule against hearsay were not violated, and admitting the statement

was not an abuse of discretion.
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2. Information about defendant’s residence

The detective also testified about howkmew where Reynolds lived, saying “people in
the community” told him, plus that the CI kmadefendant and “knew where he lived.” Later,
during cross-examination, the deteetadded that “people told nv¢ho was selling narcotics out
of there.” Counsel for defendant did not objectite admission of any of these statements, and
so we review for plain error. Plain error revieaquires that we “determine whether: (1) there
was an error, (2) which was plain, (3) thdteeted the defendant’s substantial rights, and
(4) that, in our discretionary ewv, seriously affects éhfundamental fairness, integrity, or public
reputation of judicial proceedingGibbs 506 F.3d at 483.

Reynolds cannot make this showing. Thetfigo statements about the residence are
admissible for the same reasons as the backdroformation considered above. For one thing,
defendant does not point to apgrticularized statement. Aride testimony was not offered for
the truth of the matter asserted. The detectvas merely explaining the circumstances
surrounding the CI's controlled purchases frBgynolds. As above, the statements “served the
purpose of explaining how certa@vents came to pass or why thfficers took the actions they
did.” Cromer, 389 F.3d at 676. The statements weredfigred by the government to establish
guilt. 1d. at 670. The location of the drug and firearmghasses is not an element of the offense
and testimony about the location did nathto establish the guilt of defendant.

On its face, the third piece tdstimony by the detective abalgfendant’s residence, that
“people told me who was sellintarcotics out of there,” might have presented a closer question
under other circumstances. Even though thekgraa unidentified, the statement arguatxyld
have been used by the government to help establish the guilt of defendant, and allowing

“anonymous accusations of crime without any opputy for cross-examination would make a
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mockery of the Confrontation Claused. at 675. Here, though, the government did not rely on
this statement for its truth. In fact, the stadémtnwas made under cross-examination as defense
counsel sought to establighat law enforcement was unake who really owned the house
where the controlled purchases occurred.

As an initial matter, we need not consigédrether the districtaurt erred by admitting a
statement made during “cross-examination singeaidy may not complain on appeal of errors
that he himself invited or provoked.ld. at 679 n.11 (quotinglarvis v. Roadway Express, Inc.
923 F.2d 59, 60 (6th Cir. 1991)ee also Shields v. United Stat2g3 U.S. 583, 586 (1927) (“A
defendant in a criminal case cannot complairrodr which he himself lsinvited.”) (internal
guotation omitted).

Even setting aside the “invited error” problem, defendant’s challenge of this statement
cannot survive plain error reviesn the merits. Given the overwhelming evidence of defendant’s
guilt, he cannot show that admitting the statenvea a plain error that affected his substantial
rights.

B. “Mere Presence” Jury Instruction

While Reynolds admits he was present fmth of the CI's comblled purchases, he
claims that he did not particimatand he requested jury instiioos in order for the jury to
understand that his mere presemring the transactions wassufficient to find him guilty.
Defendant was primarily concerned about the dhgtribution charges, because the instructions
given for the firearm possession count includedatimonition that “just being where something
is located does not equal possession” and tjastg present with others who had possession is

not enough to convict.”
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The standard instructions for drug distributiamich were given to the jury, explain that,
“The term ‘distribute’ means the defendant deted or transferred eontrolled substance.”
Defendant’'s proposed instruatis drew from the Sixth Ciot pattern instructions for
“conspiracy,” which explains that one’s mepgesence around a conspiracy to distribute
narcotics is not sufficient to establish pdpation in the conspiy. Here, defendant was
charged with actual distribution, not conspiracy, batadapted the consacy instructions to
explain that if he was merelygsent during a drug transactiornieen other parties he could not
be convicted for distribution.

The district court ultimately rejectedhe proposed instruction for two reasons,
(1) because the proposed instructions “could cauze confusion by trying to cobble together
that language from conspiracy,” and (2) the emgsinstructions were “more appropriate to this
factual context” and defendantssue is adequately addressed in the instructions that we're
giving.”

We review a district court’s refusal to grantrequested jury instruction for an abuse of
discretion.Williams v. Eau Claire Pub. S¢h397 F.3d 441, 445 (6th Cir. 2005). “An abuse of
discretion may be found if ‘(1) éhproposed instruction is substantially correct; (2) the proposed
instruction is not substantiallyoeered by other delivered chargasd (3) the failure to give the
instruction impaired the defendant’s theory of the caddnited States v. Hendersof26 F.3d
326, 342 (6th Cir. 2010) (quotingnited States v. Triana68 F.3d 308, 315 (6th Cir. 2006)).

The district court did not abuse itssdietion by disallowing the requested jury
instruction. While the districtaurt conceded the first poimoting that defendant’s proposed
instruction was not “exactly inaccurate,” neithertlod last two elements applies here. First, the

substance of the additional instruction soughddequately covered by the existing instruction.
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The delivered instruction explaitiethat Reynolds must have “delivered or transferred” the
controlled substance to be fougdilty of distribution, and thainstruction was sufficient to
cause a jury to acquit defendant if they beliewkat someone else delivered the narcotics.
Second, the failure to give the requested instruction did not impair defendant’s theory of the
case. The evidence of defendant’s guilt—including recordings of the two controlled purchases—
was one-sided and overwhelming. “A party reetly a slim amount of evidence to support
giving a jury instruction, but jury instructiomsust be viewed as a whole to determine whether
the instruction is necessaryTaylor v. TECO Barge Line, Inc517 F.3d 372, 387 (6th Cir.
2008). Seizing on a couple of garbled words on the recordings does not satisfy even this “slim
amount of evidence” standard.

[l

The judgment of the district courtagfirmed.
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